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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I call this

          3  meeting to order. Today we will have a number of

          4  items of unfinished business.  We'll be discussing

          5  five resolutions, voting on at least four of them.

          6  We will begin right now with Resolution 193-A.

          7                 This Resolution calls on the New York

          8  State legislature to amend Article 6 of the County

          9  laws so that the cellular telephone surcharge

         10  collected from residents of municipalities that

         11  operate their own 911 emergency telecommunications

         12  systems, such as New York City, to be remitted to

         13  those municipalities so they can set up their own

         14  emergency response systems.

         15                 I'm proud of this Committee for

         16  leading the way. As you know, we had hearings on

         17  this matter before anyone else knew that New York

         18  City residents were paying a 911 surcharge on their

         19  cell phone bills which used to be in the amount of

         20  $.70 but now is in the amount of $1.50.  That money

         21  was going directly to Albany. It was supposed to be

         22  used to enhance our 911 system to give us a

         23  capability to pinpoint cellular phone call, just

         24  based on the call, and that money was not.  It was

         25  used by the State to fund it's state troopers
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          2  systems.  To fund things such as their lawn care and

          3  their dry cleaning, if that's not bad enough, New

          4  York City does not use a state trooper systems, so

          5  it's an example of them taking our money supposedly

          6  to benefit New York City and enhance our 911 system

          7  and using it on a service that we do not use.  So

          8  this resolution is calling on Albany to change that.

          9                 It has the support of the NYPD, the

         10  State Comptroller, Local 1549, DC 37, the unions

         11  representing the 911 call operators, Skyscraper

         12  Safety Campaign, which represented the parents and

         13  families of World Trade Center victims and many

         14  others.

         15                 So, I think that rather than go

         16  through the other resolutions first we will vote on

         17  that one, and so I ask the clerk to call the roll.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vallone.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Davis.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Katz.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Yassky.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Dilan.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of five in

          5  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

          6  abstentions; the order is adopted.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you all

          8  again.

          9                 I am proud of this Committee for

         10  leading the way in that regard. Speaking of leading

         11  the way we will skip to Resolution 551- A.  As many

         12  of you have seen in the last few weeks Governor

         13  Pataki called for a distribution of the Federal

         14  Homeland Security money on a risk assessment basis.

         15  Yesterday I was very proud of Mayor Bloomberg for

         16  his vehemence in arguing our cause for a risk

         17  assessed basis for distributing this federal money.

         18                 This Committee, and myself

         19  personally, introduced a resolution in October

         20  before anyone else knew what risk assessment meant,

         21  because this Committee found out from Ray Kelly

         22  about this potential problem and I introduced a

         23  resolution in October calling for exactly that,

         24  calling for this federal money to not be distributed

         25  on a per capita basis but to be distributed on a
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          2  threat assessed basis.  Our resolution goes even

          3  further than Governor Pataki's in that we call for

          4  this money to be distributed straight to the

          5  municipalities affected, such as New York City.

          6                 There is no reason why this federal

          7  money should go to Albany first and then hopefully

          8  be distributed to New York City or possibly get lost

          9  in the Albany morass.

         10                 So this resolution calls as the Mayor

         11  did and as the Governor did for the money to be

         12  distributed not per capita but on a risk assessed

         13  basis and it also calls for the money to go straight

         14  to New York City and other municipalities that may

         15  be affected like New York City.

         16                 I'd ask the Clerk to call a roll on

         17  resolution 551-A.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vallone.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Davis.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Permission to

         22  explain my vote.  I would like to say that this is a

         23  proud moment being a member of the Public Safety

         24  Committee, chaired by Councilman Peter Vallone, Jr.

         25  This is the type of resolution and we were in the
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          2  forefront and yesterday watching the news I was

          3  proud to see Mayor Bloomberg in Washington making

          4  this case before the federal government.  I have

          5  been one who has criticized, possibly that may be

          6  too strong of a word, Mayor Bloomberg for not making

          7  the case for the City to get these funds on a

          8  federal level and I was very happy to see Mayor

          9  Bloomberg yesterday on the news in the forefront

         10  taking heat to this position that we in the City

         11  Council have made clear especially on this

         12  particular Public Safety Committee.  I

         13  wholeheartedly enthusiastically vote aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Thank you, Mr. Davis.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Katz.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Yassky.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  With

         19  gratitude to the Chair for leading the way on this

         20  issue aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Dilan.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Foster.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  I apologize

         25  for being late. I actually got caught up in police
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          2  action on the West Side Highway, aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of six in

          4  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

          5  abstentions the item is adopted.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Proposed Resolution

          7  193- A, Council Member Foster.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.  The

         10  third resolution we will be discussing today is

         11  Resolution 630- A, which calls on the New York State

         12  Legislature to increase the penalties for

         13  patronizing child prostitutes.  At a joint hearing

         14  of the Public Safety Women's Issues Committees on

         15  December 6th, the Queens and the Brooklyn DA's

         16  Office testified to the growing number of child

         17  prostitutes.  They further indicated their

         18  frustration in prosecuting those individuals who

         19  solicit such prostitutes because upon apprehending

         20  these individuals usually before the sex act has

         21  been completed only then allows the DA to charge

         22  these individuals with soliciting as opposed to

         23  statutory rape.  The penalties for soliciting are

         24  much less severe than those for statutory rape.  For

         25  example, a person who is over 18 patronizing a
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          2  prostitute less than 14 may only be charged with an

          3   "E" felony.  The lowest level felony, which for a

          4  first- time offender as a maximum only carries 1 1/3

          5  to 4 years in jail but usually results in a fine or

          6  probation.  A person who patronizes a prostitute

          7  less than 11 years of age may only be charged with a

          8   "D" felony, which for a first time offender as a

          9  maximum carries only 2 1/3 to 7, and a minimum only

         10  results in a fine or probation and perhaps most

         11  egregiously someone over 21 with a prostitute under

         12  17 is only "A" misdemeanor. So a 50 year old man can

         13  patronize a 15 year old girl and be charged with an

         14   "A" misdemeanor which we know you can do that

         15  twenty times before you ever see a day in jail.  So

         16  these laws do not adequately reflect the tragedy and

         17  seriousness of child prostitution, and they must be

         18  amended to reflect the same schedule of punishment

         19  as statutory rape.  Both the offices of the Queens

         20  and Brooklyn DA's offices support this and I am sure

         21  when Manhattan testifies they will support it also.

         22  So we are going to ask for a vote on that one now.

         23  Resolution 630- A calling for the New York State

         24  Legislature to increase the penalties for

         25  patronizing child prostitutes.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vallone.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Davis.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Permission to

          6  explain my vote.  As the Chair of the Sub- Committee

          7  on Juvenile Justice, I have had the good fortune of

          8  participating in a tri-hearing if you will, chaired

          9  by Councilman Peter Vallone, Jr., Public Safety,

         10  along with Councilwoman Tracy Boyland.  We addressed

         11  this particular issue and also as a retired police

         12  officer, and a retired officer who worked as a youth

         13  officer in the 69 Precinct in the great Borough of

         14  Brooklyn, so this is important legislation to send a

         15  clear message that patronizing children and child

         16  prostitution will not be tolerated.  So again, we

         17  thank Councilman Peter Vallone, Jr., Councilwoman

         18  Tracy Boyland, for moving forward and sending a

         19  clear message that patronizing a child will not be

         20  tolerated.  Child prostitution is wrong.  I vote

         21  aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Foster.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Katz.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Yassky.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Dilan.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of six in

          7  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

          8  abstentions, the items is adopted.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you all.

         10                 We will hear testimony on the

         11  following two resolutions which will be relatively

         12  brief.  Resolution 525 and the Manhattan DA's office

         13  can start making their way up.  Resolution 525, we

         14  are calling on the State Legislature to extend the

         15  statute of limitations for prosecution of certain

         16  violent sex offenders.

         17                 Under current law, the prosecution

         18  for rape or sodomy in the first degree must be

         19  commenced within five years of the attack.  With

         20  advances in DNA which allow law enforcement agencies

         21  to more accurately analyze crime evidence samples

         22  this statute precludes the prosecution of many

         23  serious rape and sodomy cases, particularly

         24  instances of serial rape.

         25                 The resolution recognizing these DNA
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          2  advances also recognizes the interest of a defendant

          3  of having a fair trial and urges the State

          4  Legislature to extend the statute of limitations for

          5  these types of crimes.

          6                 As a former prosecutor, I understand

          7  the importance of insuring our streets remain safe

          8  but as a former defense attorney I also understand

          9  the importance of a statute of limitations and that

         10  is why we are asking them to extend the limit, take

         11  a good faith look at this issue and we are not

         12  calling on any specific time period.

         13                 We will ask for perhaps some expert

         14  testimony on that issue.  The second resolution that

         15  the Manhattan DA's Office will be testifying to is

         16  Resolution 629 which again calls on the State

         17  Legislature to pass legislation requiring that all

         18  persons convicted of a crime, whether that be felony

         19  or misdemeanor, provide law enforcement with a DNA

         20  sample.  Let me explain to the Committee members

         21  that there is a bill pending right now introduced by

         22  Brian McLoughlan (sic) which is calling for DNA

         23  samples for everyone arrested, whenever a finger

         24  printing would be required a DNA sample would be

         25  required.  In deference to this Committee, I did not
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          2  have this bill mirror this language, in fact it only

          3  talks about a criminal conviction.  DNA as you know

          4  has revolutionized law enforcement and has assisted

          5  in tracking down many criminals, and also exonerated

          6  many defendants.  Recognizing the benefit of this

          7  DNA, the prosecuting and exonerating, the State

          8  Legislature created a DNA databank, requiring

          9  individuals convicted of certain offenses to

         10  contribute their DNA.  With such an important tool,

         11  we are calling on the State Legislature now to

         12  increase the amount of samples that that databank

         13  has.  Lisa Friel provided some testimony as to that

         14  in the past and I think it was very moving and that

         15  is why we asked her back.

         16                 As I mentioned Lisa Friel is here

         17  today with us, she is the Chief Sex Crimes

         18  Prosecutor with the Manhattan District Attorney's

         19  Office and she probably makes her the foremost

         20  authority on this topic in the entire country I

         21  would believe.  She has been here before, I have had

         22  the pleasure of working together with her on many

         23  instances.  I know first hand about her, about how

         24  good she is at her work and she's recognized

         25  throughout the country for her expertise.   Ms.
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          2  Friel, we are thankful that you are with us today,

          3  you may begin when you are ready.

          4                 MS. FRIEL:  Good morning.  My name,

          5  as Mr. Vallone told you, is Lisa Friel, and I am the

          6  Chief of the Sex Crimes Unit in the Manhattan

          7  District Attorney's Office.

          8                 Thank you for inviting me to speak on

          9  behalf of the City Council's excellent resolution to

         10  expand the New York State Convicted Offender

         11  Databank.  This expansion would include samples from

         12  all persons convicted of a felony or a misdemeanor

         13  in the databank.  This expansion is supported by the

         14  New York County District Attorney's Office.  It is

         15  also supported by the New York State District

         16  Attorney's Association, and the New York State Law

         17  Enforcement Council.  The expansion of the databank

         18  would result in more crimes solved, more crimes

         19  prevented, and it would provide added protection for

         20  the innocent.

         21                 New York State's DNA databank was

         22  created in 1994 to provide law enforcement agencies

         23  with a significant tool to investigate sex offenses

         24  and violent crimes.  Three years ago, New York

         25  expanded the list of crimes for which DNA samples
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          2  from convicted felons are taken.  Though the list

          3  now includes all violent felonies and some non-

          4  violent felony offenses, the databank still lacks

          5  DNA from 35% of convicted felons and it has no DNA

          6  from convicted misdemeanants.  Indeed, it does not

          7  even contain DNA samples from all defendants

          8  convicted of felony sex crimes, as the list of

          9  designated offenses does not include Attempted Rape

         10  in the Second Degree or Attempted Sodomy in the

         11  Second Degree.

         12                 The DNA databank should be expanded

         13  to include DNA from all persons convicted of any

         14  crime, whether felony and misdemeanor.  This will

         15  significantly enhance criminal investigations where

         16  physical evidence is recovered.  An expanded DNA

         17  databank will result in the early and accurate

         18  identification of criminals and the exoneration of

         19  the innocent.

         20                 Nineteen states are now collecting

         21  DNA from all convicted felons.  Recent experience in

         22  these states has shown that DNA collected from non-

         23  violent offenders has resulted in solving a number

         24  of violent crimes.  Virginia, which has collected

         25  DNA since 1990, has, on numerous occasions, linked
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          2  DNA from allegedly "non violent" forgers and drug

          3  felons to rapes and murders.  According to the

          4  Virginia Department of Criminal Justice Services,

          5  approximately 85% of their hits came from non-

          6  violent offenders.

          7                 In a New York State Department of

          8  Criminal Justice Services analysis of 104 hits as of

          9  July 2001, over half the offenders' first

         10  convictions were not for a DNA Index offense.  Of

         11  these cases, the offenders' first DNA index

         12  conviction occurred on average about 4 1/2 years

         13  later; during this interval, however, these

         14  offenders accumulated an average of 10.2 felony and

         15  5.6 misdemeanor arrests.  The inescapable conclusion

         16  is that DNA expansion will lead to the earlier

         17  apprehension of criminals and prevent future crimes.

         18                 Just as significantly, the DCJS study

         19  also revealed that in nearly one- third of the hits,

         20  police reported having no suspect at the time the

         21  DNA evidence was submitted for testing.  Thus,

         22  without DNA, the criminal would not have been caught

         23  and his violent crimes stopped.

         24                 Just in New York County, where fewer

         25  than 10% of rapes in New York State are reported, we
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          2  have had several cases in which perpetrators

          3  actually would have been caught sooner had they been

          4  in the DNA databank, thus preventing subsequent

          5  violent acts. In one case, a stroke victim in her

          6  late 50s was raped.

          7                 A year later, in February of 2001,

          8  another woman, this time a 68 year old grandmother,

          9  was also raped.  DNA evidence was retrieved from

         10  both crimes, and the two crimes were linked by the

         11  Medical Examiner. However, no suspect could be

         12  matched to the DNA.

         13                 In April of 2001, the perpetrator

         14  struck again, this time groping a 14 year old girl

         15  in the stairwell of her apartment building.  The

         16  perpetrator, Carlton Evans, was identified by the

         17  girl, who saw him in a park after the attack.  He

         18  was forced to give a sample to the Convicted

         19  Offender Databank upon his November of 2001

         20  conviction for Sexual Abuse in the First Degree for

         21  this latest attack and was linked to the previous

         22  two rapes.  His criminal record revealed that he had

         23  previously pled guilty to a felony, Attempted

         24  Criminal Sale of a Controlled Substance in the Third

         25  Degree, in 1998.  Criminal Sale of a Controlled
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          2  Substance in the Third Degree, the crime with which

          3  Evans was originally charged, would have resulted in

          4  the entry of Evans' DNA into the State Convicted

          5  Offender Databank.

          6                 However, because Evans pled guilty to

          7  Attempted Criminal Sale, still a felony, but one

          8  degree lower, a sample of Evans' DNA was never

          9  taken.  Had the list of crimes requiring DNA samples

         10  included all felonies, this rapist might have been

         11  identified and apprehended in 2000 after his first

         12  rape, before he struck again and destroyed the lives

         13  of a 68 year old grandmother and a young girl.

         14                 In another case, one that I

         15  personally prosecuted, four women were brutally

         16  raped and assaulted over an eight day period by the

         17  same man.  One of the women died from her injuries;

         18  the other three suffered permanent brain damage.

         19  Though police took DNA from each of the attacks,

         20  they could not link it to a known perpetrator.

         21  Finally, police were able to recover a partial

         22  fingerprint from the fourth crime scene.

         23                 The perpetrator, John Royster, had

         24  been fingerprinted in conjunction with an arrest and

         25  conviction for the misdemeanor of theft of services-
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          2  jumping a subway turnstile.  The partial fingerprint

          3  lifted from the homicide crime scene matched these

          4  fingerprints taken upon his theft of services arrest

          5  and, thus, Royster was finally apprehended. Because

          6  theft of services is not among those crimes that

          7  requires a DNA sample to be submitted to the

          8  databank, Royster was caught after four rapes and a

          9  murder, rather than one rape.  Indeed, had he not

         10  left behind that one fingerprint at the scene of his

         11  last attack, there is no doubt in my mind that he

         12  would have raped and killed many more women before

         13  he was caught.

         14                 We now live in a world where serial

         15  rape and murder can be significantly reduced due to

         16  technological advances in DNA testing, yet, we have

         17  not taken full advantage of these scientific

         18  advances.  We must expand our databank of known

         19  offenders to stop these rapists and murderers before

         20  they accumulate multiple victims.  We can do that by

         21  amending present law to allow the taking of a DNA

         22  sample from everyone convicted of a crime in the

         23  State of New York.  The terrible examples I just

         24  gave you perfectly illustrate how expansion of the

         25  DNA databank would, in fact, prevent crimes and save
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          2  lives.  Thus, I strongly urge passage of the

          3  resolution presently being considered by the

          4  Council.

          5                 When I last appeared before this

          6  Committee on November 26, 2002, I discussed the

          7  importance of expanding the statute of limitations

          8  for certain violent sexual offenses.  I would like

          9  to reiterate the District Attorney's support of

         10  extending the statute of limitations, in conjunction

         11  with the expansion of the DNA databank.  Last

         12  November, I advised the committee that as more

         13  profiles came back on the older rape kits that have

         14  been sent out for testing, more and more solved

         15  sexual assault cases were going to go unprosecuted

         16  because of New York State's antiquated statute of

         17  limitations law.  Indeed, my prediction has

         18  unfortunately become a reality in just the four

         19  short months since I was here.  Since November, over

         20  100 offenders have been identified through DNA

         21  profiling on cases that cannot be prosecuted because

         22  the statute of limitations have expired.  While not

         23  all of these cases are true "cold hits", that is

         24  hits to offenders not previously known to law

         25  enforcement, many of them are.  To give you an
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          2  example, just blocks from this Council Chamber, a

          3  young woman was attacked as she returned home to her

          4  apartment in May of 1992.  She was robbed and

          5  sexually assaulted. In March of 2003, just last

          6  month, her attacker was identified conclusively

          7  through DNA.  He is presently in state prison, but

          8  will be eligible for parole in a few short years.

          9  He cannot be prosecuted for this 1992 attack because

         10  it falls beyond the statute of limitations.

         11                 In another case, that occurred in

         12  September of 1992, a man was returning home to his

         13  apartment on West 16th Street when he was confronted

         14  by a gun- wielding perpetrator who forced the man

         15  into his apartment.  The man's girlfriend was

         16  inside.  The perpetrator then raped the girlfriend

         17  two times, forcing her boyfriend to watch.  He left

         18  them tied up when he fled.  Again, this past March,

         19  the assailant was conclusively identified through

         20  DNA and again, he will escape punishment for this

         21  awful crime because the statute of limitations has

         22  expired.  This perpetrator is eligible for parole

         23  this October.

         24                 Finally, perhaps the most horrifying

         25  of our recent cold hits that cannot be prosecuted
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          2  because of our present statute of limitations,

          3  involves a man who was matched just last week to

          4  three prior stranger rapes, all of which took place

          5  in 1992.  This man is already out on parole for a

          6  prior offense.  He roams the streets a free man,

          7  never having been prosecuted for the three brutal

          8  rapes he perpetrated in 1992.  Based on my

          9  experience, it is likely that he will rape again and

         10  thus destroy more lives.

         11                 The City Council should be commended

         12  on its efforts to change New York's antiquated

         13  statute of limitations law that allow these

         14  offenders to escape punishment.  We also welcome

         15  your support for expanding the DNA databank to

         16  include all criminal convictions.  The changes to

         17  both these laws will certainly save lives.

         18                 Thank you for affording me an

         19  opportunity on behalf of my Office and the New York

         20  State District Attorney's Association to speak here

         21  today in support of these resolutions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you very

         23  much, Ms. Friel, as always very compelling.  Let me

         24  begin with asking you to explain in a larger sense

         25  the purpose of the statute of limitations and why

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  for example that it's there to protect people from

          3  fading memories perhaps and the innocent from having

          4  to protect themselves from charges that happened ten

          5  years ago.  However, I'd like you to relate that to

          6  the advances in technology and how DNA would obviate

          7  the necessity for such a short statute of

          8  limitations in cases like this.

          9                 MS. FRIEL:  Certainly.  The general

         10  purpose of statutes of limitations is to make sure

         11  that the defendant charged with the crime is not

         12  charged so far beyond the crime that he cannot

         13  gather evidence to support his defense.  But we have

         14  varying statute of limitations for different crimes,

         15  for instance there is a two year statute of

         16  limitations on misdemeanors, five year on most

         17  felonies which can be expanded in the case where you

         18  don't know who the defendant is and therefore where

         19  he is to ten years but at no rate longer than ten

         20  years.  And, of course, as you know Mr. Vallone we

         21  have no statute of limitations on murder.  What that

         22  means is the public has decided through it's

         23  legislature that murder is a serious enough crime

         24  that being able to prosecute someone whenever we

         25  find out who that person is outweighs the
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          2  defendant's interest in being able to go to trial

          3  closer to the crime.  The other thing to factor in

          4  besides the seriousness I think of forcible rape and

          5  sodomy which are "B" felonies is the fact that with

          6  DNA evidence we are conclusively establishing

          7  identification in these cases.  This is not the kind

          8  of thing where if you can go back a number of years

          9  they are going to find evidence that is going to

         10  clear them.  This is a conclusive.  The whole

         11  scientific community accepts this principle that

         12  this is a conclusive identification.  It's not just

         13  the prosecution side that agrees with that.  It's

         14  obviously people who work for the defense, we rely

         15  on DNA to exonerate people every day.  I can give

         16  you a very present example of someone who was

         17  exonerated but very late because his DNA was not in

         18  the databank, because he was convicted of a felonies

         19  that were index offenses.

         20                 My colleague, Maggie Fisher, the Head

         21  of the Special Victims Bureau of the Queens DA's

         22  Office is right now on trial with this serial

         23  rapist.  There was another person in custody for

         24  that crime originally, he was identified by both

         25  victims and he was in custody six months before the

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  sample taken from him at the time of arrest could be

          3  compared and exonerate him and he was let go.

          4                 Eventually the DNA from those crime

          5  scenes matched a convicted offender in the database.

          6  Had this man who had felony convictions DNA been

          7  taken on his first felony conviction he would have

          8  been exonerated immediately and he wouldn't have

          9  served six months in prison.  So it's just a very

         10  recent example of how both sides depend on DNA as

         11  conclusive evidence to convict the guilty and

         12  exonerate the innocent.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.  I'm

         14  going to let some of my colleagues ask some

         15  questions because you don't need to convince me, but

         16  some of them may have some concerns.  Council Member

         17  Davis.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you for

         19  your compelling presentation.  I am not so sure I'm

         20  one of the ones he was talking about.  When we think

         21  about the Central Park case and DNA, do you believe

         22  100% in DNA?

         23                 MS FRIEL:  Do I believe if taken

         24  properly, handled properly, and matched to someone

         25  100% that's an identification? Yes, I do.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  That's right

          3  where I am at. Taken properly, handled properly DNA.

          4  If one takes it properly, handles it properly then

          5  would you support not only DNA for convicted

          6  misdemeanors and felonies, would you support DNA for

          7  people job applications, would we support DNA for

          8  individuals at birth?  If it's taken properly and

          9  handled properly and done correctly you support it

         10  totally, correct?

         11                 MS. FRIEL:  Are you asking me do I

         12  support taking DNA from people who apply for jobs or

         13  at birth the way we put a little footprint on a card

         14  because that will increase our databank to solve

         15  crimes or are you asking me whether that something

         16  government should keep on file for whatever use it

         17  might deem appropriate in the future?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  I'll tell you

         19  exactly where I am.  I am nervous about, I support

         20  the statute of limitations for the prosecution of

         21  certain violent sex offenders, I'm there.  But I'm

         22  nervous about the DNA, I have no problem with the

         23  felonies, or felons or convicted felons, but I am

         24  nervous about the convicted misdemeanors.  I'm

         25  concerned that the DNA may not be taken properly,
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          2  handled properly, and that I need to make sure that

          3  the DNA process is full proof.  And that's where I

          4  am somewhat concerned.  But as far as your testimony

          5  was compelling, but in light of the Central Park and

          6  in light of the DNA, I don't know if I want to put

          7  all of my eggs in one basket and rest wholeheartedly

          8  on DNA, unless you assure me, you can assure me that

          9  it's full proof.

         10                 MS. FRIEL:  Let me put it this way,

         11  I've been at the DA's Office now for twenty years,

         12  and obviously we have seen great changes and strides

         13  in our ability to do DNA testing.  The way evidence

         14  was collected in the 1980's when we started DNA

         15  testing is very different from the way evidence is

         16  collected today in 2003. I can assure you that when

         17  samples are taken, whether it be from convicted

         18  felons who have index offenses or whether it be

         19  pursuant to court orders on arrest cases, so we can

         20  use them in court, these things are being taken

         21  properly.  I have never seen a sample not taken

         22  properly.

         23                 I want to assure you of something

         24  else, there is always a concern when you expand the

         25  group of people from whom you are going to take DNA
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          2  that that DNA might be used for other purposes and

          3  the Council should be assured we have very strict

          4  State laws that regulate what the DNA can be used

          5  for.  It only goes into this convicted offender

          6  database, it could never be accessed for any other

          7  reason.

          8                 There are very strict penalties for

          9  anybody who would release anything about someone's

         10  DNA.  So what we are talking about is taking DNA

         11  from convicted misdemeanants and putting in a

         12  databank the only purpose of which is to compare

         13  crime scene evidence.  The only thing you are

         14  protecting them from if you don't put their DNA

         15  there is from being matched to a rape or a sexual

         16  assault in which DNA was left behind. I don't think

         17  any of us wants to protect a convicted misdemeanant

         18  from that.

         19                 If I can say one other thing, there

         20  are I gave you one example of John Royster who only

         21  had a misdemeanor conviction before he engaged in a

         22  number of very serious violent offenses.  I could

         23  give you many more in my experience and the

         24  experience of all my counterparts through out of

         25  state, it is unfortunately not unusual for somebody
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          2  to commit a brutal violent rape and have no criminal

          3  record, but to only have a misdemeanor conviction.

          4  Now I'm not suggesting you take DNA from everyone at

          5  birth so we can get those people without criminal

          6  records, but I am suggesting that if you have

          7  committed a crime and a misdemeanor is a crime, and

          8  you are convicted of that crime, that your DNA goes

          9  into a databank so if you commit a violent offense

         10  we catch after the first one. Not after the second,

         11  or the third, or the fourth.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  You do

         13  understand my concern and though Councilman Vallone

         14  speaks highly of you and your record speaks for

         15  itself, of the wonderful job you are doing, there

         16  may be others who may mess it up.  What I'm trying

         17  to protect individuals from we becoming a police

         18  state, from inclusion, I mean from it becoming a

         19  police state and not in to abuse individual's

         20  rights.

         21                 Now, until, unless I see where it's a

         22  full proof mechanism in place to protect individuals

         23  and maybe what you have to do is make sure that's

         24  across the City, across the State, even across

         25  America, that's where I am concerned at.  I agree
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          2  with you that we should get all as many criminals as

          3  we can whether it's misdemeanors, whether it's

          4  violations, whether it's felons, we have to get

          5  those individuals off the street.  But on the same

          6  token, we have to protect individuals' rights and

          7  not allow us to become a police state, so where I am

          8  still, and I will listen to the remaining questions

          9  from my colleagues as I go forth as I wrestle with

         10  this, that misdemeanor part and also is there a full

         11  proof mechanism in place, not just coming out of

         12  your office, which you are doing a wonderful job but

         13  across the board to make sure that other boroughs

         14  and the City and individuals' rights are protected

         15  across the board.

         16                 MS. FRIEL:  If I can point out one

         17  thing, when DNA testing, when we first started using

         18  DNA testing, your concerns were probably better

         19  placed back then.  Because when they first gave us

         20  numbers so to speak on a match they might say that

         21  you matched one in a hundred thousand people.  And I

         22  actually had a defense attorney bring out a

         23  calculator at a trial once and figure out how many

         24  men that meant just in the City of New York.  There

         25  was a concern that DNA is such a persuasive science
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          2  that it might have more weight than it really should

          3  back then.  Now the science is such that when they

          4  declare a match it's across what they call "fifteen

          5  low si" (sic) and I wasn't very good at math, that

          6  is why I went to law school, but the mathematical

          7  probabilities once you match someone across "fifteen

          8  low si" (sic) of being wrong are astronomical.  And

          9  now the number when they come to court and say it's

         10  a match, is one in two hundred forty billion people

         11  in the world.  There is only six billion people in

         12  the world.  They are statically saying that it

         13  cannot be anyone else.

         14                 If DNA is taken improperly and it's

         15  degraded or not kept properly and it goes for

         16  testing, you won't have enough to go out those

         17   "fifteen low si" (sic).  You won't get a false

         18  match, a false positive, you may get a false

         19  exclusion, you may not be able to complete your

         20  testing. But you can't get scientifically a false

         21  positive.

         22                 The other comment I would make to

         23  your concerns, I appreciate your comments about my

         24  Office, my Unit, but your concerns about other

         25  places, if you past your resolution, if the
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          2  legislature adopts this, this DNA is not going to be

          3  taken by DA's Office, nor by the police department,

          4  this DNA is going to be taken within the penal

          5  system, whether it's by state defenders and from

          6  city jail defenders. There is going to be a whole

          7  process set up for the State Department of

          8  Corrections, they will expand the process that they

          9  have, that everybody thinks works very well.  How

         10  it's taken, how it's transported, they have many,

         11  many steps to insure that the right person's DNA is

         12  matched with the right samples.  They finger print

         13  people, I have never heard anybody have a concern

         14  that when they take a sample from a convicted

         15  offender of an index offense that it goes into the

         16  databank and it is not that person's and so you

         17  could get a false match to someone.  I am sure that

         18  they will expand those processes if the legislature

         19  passes this law so I don't share the same concerns

         20  and I hope I have allayed some of your's.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you

         22  Council Member Davis.

         23                 Council Member Yassky.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Mr. Chair, I

         25  just wanted to commend you for both these two bills,
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          2  I think they are very important and I strongly

          3  support both resolutions and I very much hope that

          4  the State Legislature will follow suit.  People

          5  often talk about changing criminal procedure as

          6  being pro- defendant or pro- prosecution.  When you

          7  improve a law enforcement technology that allows law

          8  enforcement to get at the truth that's not pro

          9  defendant or pro- prosecution, that's pro- justice;

         10  and it's in all of our interests to improve

         11  technologies that will allow law enforcement to

         12  identify the right person both so that the

         13  perpetrators punished and so that innocent people

         14  are not punished. I mean there have been literally

         15  dozens of people freed over the last few years on

         16  the basis of DNA evidence that are used to find the

         17  correct perpetrator.  Just as finger prints have

         18  enabled thousands and thousands of perpetrators to

         19  be punished and thousands of innocent people to

         20  avoid being punished, DNA will do the same over the

         21  coming years.  I strongly support these.

         22                 Mr. Chair, I would ask I do have a

         23  prior engagement, as you know, in that whenever it's

         24  in order for me to vote, please let me know and I

         25  will vote at that time.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you

          3  Council Member. Council Member Dilan.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Thank you Mr.

          5  Chair.  Ms. Friel, I need to know why you feel

          6  misdemeanors should be included. I think throughout

          7  your testimony you've made it pretty clear, but I am

          8  struggling with that part of this resolution.  I

          9  feel I need more information.  This would include

         10  everybody convicted of any type of misdemeanors, is

         11  that correct?

         12                 MS. FRIEL:  Yes sir.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  And, if

         14  someone commits say a simple act of civil

         15  disobedience, say a protest of a war, that would

         16  make them eligible to have their DNA sample

         17  collected.

         18                 MS. FRIEL:  Depends what they

         19  convicted of for having engaged in that act.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  That is what I

         21  am struggling with, when you say it depends.

         22                 MS. FRIEL:  This is what I will say,

         23  I'll tell you what I tell my children about the

         24  protest.  You have every right in this country to

         25  protest, and taxercize (sic) your First Amendment
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          2  rights, if you do in a way that violates the law

          3  then you can be arrested and prosecuted.  If you

          4  trespass and in doing so then yes you can be

          5  arrested for the misdemeanor of criminal trespass.

          6  Any district attorney's office has discretion

          7  whether to require you to plead guilty to criminal

          8  trespass or whether to let you plead guilty to a

          9  violation or to adjourn your case in contemplation

         10  of dismissal.  So, having committed the act of civil

         11  disobedience doesn't necessarily mean your DNA will

         12  end up in a DNA databank.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  But if they

         14  did so in a manner that would lead to their arrest

         15  would it then allow their sample to be collected?

         16                 MS. FRIEL:  If it leads to their

         17  arrest for a misdemeanor

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Yes.

         19                 MS. FRIEL:  And the relevant district

         20  attorney's office requires them to plead guilty to

         21  that misdemeanor or they go to trial and they are

         22  convicted of that misdemeanor by a jury, then yes,

         23  this resolution and if passed by the legislature

         24  would require their DNA to go in a databank.  But

         25  keep in mind again the only downside if you will of
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          2  your DNA being in a databank convicted for that

          3  offense is if you go out and commit a rape and we

          4  recover DNA and it goes up and matches you, that's

          5  the only negative. Otherwise, your DNA sits there

          6  and it never matches anything for the rest of your

          7  life, and I would presume with the kind of person

          8  you are depositing there we would think will never

          9  match and their DNA will sit there.  That's the only

         10  downside to doing this.  On the other hand, you have

         11  to weigh that against the fact that as I told you in

         12  my experience, we've had any number of rapes where

         13  the only prior offense somebody had was a

         14  misdemeanor, was a theft of service, like John

         15  Royster, was a shop lift, was as possession of

         16  cocaine for their personal use, and had their DNA

         17  been in there we would have matched quickly, we

         18  would have got them off the street. Instead what

         19  happens now is that they do another one and another

         20  one and another one before other methods of

         21  investigation finally reveal who they are.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Well, the

         23  reason why I struggle is that I do agree that for

         24  all felonies that we should definitely have their

         25  samples collected and I would like to open the pool
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          2  to misdemeanors also, but you know I am also

          3  concerned about some of the things that Council

          4  Member Davis said in his statement about creating a

          5  police state or it's something as I sit here that I

          6  am struggling with.  Thank you, Mr.  Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

          8  Council Member Katz.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Hi, Ms. Friel.

         10  Thank you for being here today on this important

         11  topic and I'd like to tag, I have a few short topics

         12  if I can but I would like to tag on to Councilman

         13  Davis and Councilman Dilan's concerns.  Between

         14  finger printing and DNA, which one is more, is

         15  considered by the prosecution I guess by the

         16  scientific community as being more accurate.

         17                 MS. FRIEL:  I would say that the

         18  scientific community if you have enough points in a

         19  finger print, just as if you have enough in a low si

         20  (sic) match in DNA consider both 100% reliable.  But

         21  we are more apt with DNA to get a 15 point as I say

         22  low si (sic) match with the state of the science

         23  which is unassailable as a match.  In my experience

         24  with finger prints it's not unusual to only get a

         25  partial print, which leaves you with not as many
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          2  points of comparison.  The less points of match you

          3  make the less accurate the finger print match may be

          4  and of course in my business I rely on DNA, if we

          5  have DNA we have a much stronger case.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So between

          7  finger printing which basically has been used for I

          8  don't know how many years in our courts as evidence

          9  in a criminal trial, I think DNA, you see in the old

         10  movies, right, finger printing, everybody's out

         11  looking for a finger print, I am assuming that

         12  finger printing has been used for at least 30, 40,

         13  50 years.

         14                 MS. FRIEL:  Longer, I believe.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Longer than

         16  that in our court system and DNA is now being used

         17  for about 8 years and DNA is probably more accurate

         18  according to the scientists.  Now with finger

         19  printing and with DNA they become simply evidence in

         20  a case, correct?

         21                 MS. FRIEL:  Correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So whether you

         23  have finger printing or DNA sample which matches

         24  100% it is simply one piece of evidence in a whole

         25  hopefully litany of evidence which goes towards the
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          2  prosecution of a defendant whether it is a

          3  misdemeanor or a felony.

          4                 MS. FRIEL:  It can be.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So if you have

          6  a DNA match or a finger print match it doesn't

          7  automatically mean that you are going to get a

          8  conviction.

          9                 MS. FRIEL:  Absolutely not.  We are

         10  talking about an area in which the most common

         11  defense is consent.  So that it matches with DNA or

         12  that it matches with the finger print is not the

         13  issue in a lot of these cases.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  And on the

         15  other side like the Central Park rape jogger case,

         16  Central Park jogger rape case, simply because you

         17  don't have a DNA match it doesn't automatically

         18  preclude a rape conviction.

         19                 MS. FRIEL:  Absolutely, less than 50%

         20  of the rape kits that are tested at the Medical

         21  Examiner's Office come back positive with DNA, that

         22  is why the crime is defined by penetration not

         23  ejaculation.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Ok.  I think it

         25  is important for my colleagues to know and this is

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  why I'm talking about it that it DNA and finger

          3  printing just become simply one more tool that the

          4  prosecution has in a whole litany of evidence that

          5  is required to get beyond a reasonable doubt in a

          6  conviction, and on the other side of it, it is a way

          7  to prove your innocence in a lot of ways as well, if

          8  the DNA doesn't match.  And, this is just for the

          9  record again, only if you are convicted of a

         10  misdemeanor or a felony, right?

         11                 MS. FRIEL:  Correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  The other

         13  question I have is, and just to make it clear even

         14  if there is a DNA match, there is other safe guards

         15  in place should the defendant still assert that he

         16  did not commit, or she I guess, did not commit the

         17  crime.

         18                 MS. FRIEL:  Absolutely.  You don't go

         19  right from match to state prison, you still have all

         20  the same rights that any defendant would have absent

         21  DNA evidence.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Plea

         23  bargaining, I'm actually just curious about this.  I

         24  would assume that if you have a conviction for

         25  either a misdemeanor or a, I know there are sexual
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          2  abuse misdemeanors as well, a lot of by the way

          3  endangerment of the welfare of a child, just so a

          4  lot of folks know and different misdemeanors are

          5  also sexually oriented as well, I would assume that

          6  if you are plea bargaining and you are trying to get

          7  a conviction of a crime that will allow you to do a

          8  DNA match and there is a plea bargain just so we are

          9  clear down to something that right now the law

         10  doesn't require the DNA to match, does that come

         11  into play when you're talking about plea bargaining

         12  at all?

         13                 MS. FRIEL:  Absolutely, if we have

         14  the choice when plea bargaining if our intent the

         15  facts make it reasonable to offer someone a plea

         16  bargain, say one count down so to speak.  If there

         17  is a count down for which we could take your DNA

         18  sample and you become a Megan's Law registered

         19  offender those are our two considerations in my

         20  Unit, that's the charge we would have you plead to.

         21  The problem that I brought up with the DNA databank

         22  is that because it doesn't cover Attempted Rape in

         23  the Second Degree, Attempted Sodomy in the Second

         24  Degree, and it covers no misdemeanors many of the

         25  charges that we generally plead down to because the
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          2  facts and circumstances of the defendants record

          3  warrant giving someone a lesser plea are not

          4  convictions for which we can take a DNA sample.  And

          5  then we are forced to look at should we make him

          6  plead guilty to the higher charge that in our

          7  feeling is not appropriate, he deserves being

          8  offered the lower charge, and if we offer the lower

          9  charge which we will do, we would never not do that

         10  when the defendant deserves that plea offer.  But

         11  then we have to forego taking his DNA sample.  He's

         12  now committed a sexual offense, his DNA should be in

         13  the databank.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Thank you for

         15  your time.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you and

         17  let me add, Council Member, that in many of these

         18  cases the defense is not identification, it's

         19  consent and, therefore, DNA wouldn't even be a

         20  factor at trial.  Council Member Foster.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Thank you.

         22  I'm smart enough to know that I don't know

         23  everything, so I actually called a buddy back at the

         24  DA's Office and said help me with this, because I'm

         25  struggling.  Some of my questions, I'm big on
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          2  backing on what everyone said.  Can you walk me

          3  through how DNA is taken currently.

          4                 MS. FRIEL:  Sure.  It used to be that

          5  we took a blood sample.  It required a needle in

          6  someone's arm,  It's far less intrusive now.  You

          7  take two cotton swabs and swab the inside of

          8  someone's cheek.  Obviously, minimally invasive,

          9  doesn't cause any pain whatsoever.  And that's what

         10  we use as our standard sample from a convicted

         11  offender.  Or even when a case is pending, and we

         12  want to take a sample upon court ordered a match so

         13  that we have the evidence for trial.  We have now

         14  gone to using these swabs, which is a great stride

         15  forward and should make you less concerned about the

         16  taking of these samples.  I for one don't like

         17  needles either and so I think that for many people

         18  this was a great advance.  When we take these swabs,

         19  the swab is then air dried, and it's taken, it

         20  depends where.  For me it would be taken by a police

         21  officer who would voucher it, take it to the Medical

         22  Examiner's Office, it would go in through the

         23  evidence desk and then go off through DNA testing

         24  with very stringent chain of custody along the way.

         25  In the state prison system I can't speak to the
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          2  exact steps when they take them from convicted

          3  offenders, but as I mentioned they have many steps

          4  in place to make sure that if I swab your mouth your

          5  name is what's goes into their system when they run

          6  the profile on that swab.  Does that answer your

          7  question?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  And who

          9  actually does the testing of the swab once we have

         10  done the whole chain of custody?

         11                 MS. FRIEL:  Okay, if it's a sample

         12  being taken from a convicted offender now in state

         13  prison, then the state police lab does the DNA

         14  profiling of that sample and then it goes into the

         15  databank.  Now, I believe that they had to out

         16  source a number of samples years ago to catch up

         17  after the law was passed.  Now I know they are up to

         18  date and they are doing their own work.  Here in the

         19  City if I have a case someone's been arrested and I

         20  get a court order to take a DNA sample that goes to

         21  the Medical Examiner's Office and is tested by

         22  Robert Shaylor.  Dr. Shaylor's unit, the same people

         23  who test all of our rape kits and is compared right

         24  there.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Okay, do you
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          2  think that you were speaking about it in I think an

          3  attempted rape, there are certain sex crimes that

          4  don't are like lower and you can't do the DNA

          5  testing, do you think that having this resolution

          6  where all people convicted of a misdemeanor are

          7  swabbed for DNA that you would then see less offers

          8  of violations in that instead of being you know

          9  given a community service and a slap on the hand

         10  that we are going to find that more are going to be

         11  convicted for these misdemeanors so that in fact we

         12  have these DNA databank expanding and swabbing?

         13                 MS. FRIEL:  I don't expect that in

         14  any case someone would make a defendant plead to a

         15  misdemeanor for the sole reason of getting them into

         16  the databank if an offer of a violation is

         17  appropriate any more than right now, we don't offer

         18  attempt rape 2 in a case where we think that's

         19  appropriate.  We do that all the time if we think

         20  it's appropriate and we forego the DNA sample.  So I

         21  would say that that's not a concern that anyone

         22  should be very worried about.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  And just so I

         24  know that I understand, if someone accepts a plea

         25  bargain and is thus convicted of a misdemeanor then
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          2  they under this that we are considering would then

          3  be have to do the swab to be put into the DNA

          4  databank.

          5                 MS. FRIEL:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  My last

          7  question is you having done this for so long and

          8  kind of being the expert in the area, are you

          9  comfortable, James began the, Council Member Davis

         10  began it in terms of the chain of custody and you

         11  just said how important the chain of custody is in

         12  terms of making sure that my swabs says Helen Foster

         13  when it's entered in the computer.  You are

         14  comfortable with that set up of the chain of custody

         15  be it through the police department or corrections,

         16  you are comfortable with that?

         17                 MS. FRIEL:  It will all be through

         18  corrections cause we are talking about taking

         19  samples from convicted offenders, right?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Okay.

         21                 MS. FRIEL:  I'm a hundred percent

         22  comfortable with that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Thank you.

         24                 MS. FRIEL: Absolutely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you
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          2  Council Member. Council Member Reed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair.  I'm listening to the questions and I think

          5  that all are very good questions from my colleagues,

          6  and I think several of us are struggling over this

          7  issue because it does seem that we are sort of

          8  taking another step in the direction of the state

          9  having complete control of the person for the

         10  smallest misdemeanor, crime, that often times we may

         11  or may not actually have been guilty of but we are

         12  convicted of never the less and then put into some

         13  large databank for what seemingly is a harmless

         14  purpose.  But then you stretch that out further

         15  given the experience that many of us have had in

         16  this country and wake up one morning and find we are

         17  on another list.  And that all may sound silly and

         18  paranoid to some people but it isn't, particularly

         19  African Americans.  And that is just real and I

         20  don't like to often times go to that reality because

         21  it sort of presumes a paranoia that's pretty

         22  constant.  But you know what, we are, for good

         23  reason.

         24                 I am concerned at this hearing today

         25  that this is the first time that we have had a
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          2  dialogue about this other than somewhat superficial

          3  one several months ago and there is nobody here from

          4  any of the Civil Liberties organizations to tell us

          5  what their concerns are.  I don't know if they were

          6  reached out to, I have the greatest admiration for

          7  the Chair of this Committee, but this is like "botta

          8  bing, botto boom". You are sitting here telling me a

          9  world of stories about 1992, I remember John

         10  Royster, I remember all these cases.  They were

         11  horrible.  And on the surface this sounds fairly

         12  benign, but I'm not in a position today to be able

         13  to support this unless I hear broader testimony from

         14  people who may have civil liberties issues. And I

         15  would ask the Chair to postpone a vote on this

         16  particular resolution until we have had more of an

         17  opportunity to reach out to people, because I would

         18  like to support this bill but I need more

         19  reassurances about those kinds of issues.

         20                 And with all due respect to the

         21  witness, you are coming at it from the district

         22  attorney's position, so no matter what questions we

         23  ask you about it that's the direction you are going

         24  to respond.  And I understand that, I think you are

         25  doing a terrific job in that office.  But I have a
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          2  lot of, when my antenna goes up instantly about the

          3  rights that we have in this country and we start

          4  talking about misdemeanors and I'm not quite sure

          5  how far down the scale that is, I'm very concerned

          6  about it.

          7                 I am sorry to hear that the

          8  grandmother in her 60's got raped, I'm sorry to hear

          9  that anybody got raped or violated, and I want to

         10  see them locked up for as long as possible. But, I

         11  just think that this is too important a step for us

         12  to be taking to talk about Virginia, cause you know

         13  we got enough laws in Virginia and the politics in

         14  Virginia to scare me about anything. So let's not

         15  just say that, you know Virginia just having a good

         16  time with this law.  They damn near elected Oliver

         17  North, so I would ask the Chair with all due respect

         18  that for the sake of perhaps getting more unity

         19  around this resolution that we postpone the vote on

         20  this today and reach out to a larger audience to see

         21  what other thoughts there might be to be had on

         22  this.  Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you

         24  Council Member. Council Member Davis.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Yes, I want to
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          2  first of all compliment you, Chief for the Sex

          3  Crimes Unit of the New York County District

          4  Attorney's Office, Lisa Friel, I want to compliment

          5  you, I want to thank you, you opened my eyes to look

          6  into this further only because, only because you

          7  introduced rightfully so the Medical Examiner's

          8  Office.  I would like to have opportunity to ask

          9  them to make sure that the chair of custody is clear

         10  as a retired police office and a retired correction

         11  officer, so I would like to make sure that that

         12  chain of custody is, and I would like to also have

         13  the opportunity to speak to the corrections

         14  department, the police department, and you also made

         15  mention of the state police lab.  Just to make sure

         16  that the chain of custody is clear, but again I want

         17  to personally say thank you for the great job that

         18  you are doing in Manhattan and make sure that across

         19  the board everyone is on the same page.  Thank you

         20  so very much, Chairman Vallone.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you

         22  Council Member.  Are there any other questions from

         23  the members?  Thank you, Ms. Friel. I would just

         24  like to say that again we appreciate your coming

         25  down today.  I think that your testimony was as
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          2  compelling as last time, and we may be reaching out

          3  to you again in the future on this issue, bear with

          4  us.  But I know you've been working with us

          5  constantly, your entire office, and we appreciate

          6  that and the good work you do every day and we will

          7  be voting momentarily on the statute of limitations

          8  issue and we thank you for your testimony. We thank

          9  you for your testimony, especially compelling, the

         10  three examples you gave, the one a few blocks from

         11  the Council Chamber where one woman was attacked,

         12  robbed and sexually assaulted in 1992 and he can't

         13  be prosecuted now and there's the case where the

         14  male and three strange rapes which took place in

         15  1992 is out on parole right now and you and I agree

         16  that this man will rape again and there is nothing

         17  that can be done.  We thank you for that testimony,

         18  and those compelling examples.  We look forward to

         19  working with you again on this.

         20                 MS. FRIEL:  You are welcome, thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I would like to

         23  call for a vote on that resolution, 525, which is

         24  regarding the statute, extending the statute of

         25  limitations on sexual assault cases and I ask the
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          2  Clerk to call the roll on that.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vallone.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reed.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Davis.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Foster.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Katz.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Dilan.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of six in

         16  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         17  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         18  please sign the Committee reports.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  May I ask that

         20  you hold that open for Council Member Yassky,

         21  please, as he will be returning soon and indicates

         22  an intention to vote yes.  I thank the Committee for

         23  that.  With regard to the resolution on DNA samples,

         24  in difference to our senior member, Mr. Phil Reed,

         25  who would like more testimony on this, I had put it
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          2  on today as it did fit the genre of the other

          3  resolutions we were passing, and perhaps I was more

          4  convinced than others based on her testimony, Ms.

          5  Friel's, testimony last time, but I have absolutely

          6  no problem reaching out to other individuals and

          7  getting some more testimony on this based on your

          8  well thought out observations.  We will do that on a

          9  future date.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And I think

         12  that we are going to hold the vote open for Council

         13  Member Yassky and ask if other businesses, did you

         14  get to vote on this.  I don't think that Council

         15  Member Reed got to vote on the other three that we

         16  did earlier.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Aye on all the

         18  others.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay.  And we

         20  do have some more testimony before we, this is from

         21  Mr. Mitchell Balmuth, okay, come on up Mr., who

         22  represents himself, Mr. Balmuth.

         23                 MR. BALMUTH:  Thank you.  My name is

         24  Mitchell Balmuth and some of the Council people know

         25  me from Intro 160, which I have testified before.
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          2  But as I was looking through the City Council

          3  website I noticed this hearing today and I was so

          4  disturbed about it that I knew that I had to come

          5  down.  I'm just as disturbed as Councilman Reed

          6  about not seeing anybody here from any civil rights

          7  organizations, because this is a bill, this is a

          8  resolution which I know isn't binding on anybody but

          9  it's serious enough that you should hear the other

         10  side.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We will.

         12                 MR. BALMUTH:  Okay, hopefully you

         13  will.  Hopefully next time there will be some more

         14  people here, I might not be here so I want to tell

         15  you my, give you my testimony.  First of all I'd

         16  like to talk a little about the District Attorney's

         17  testimony, I've had dealings with the District

         18  Attorney's Office, there is some good district

         19  attorneys, that's for sure.  There are some great

         20  police officers in this City and yet there are some

         21  bad ones too. And, one of the things that she

         22  mentioned is that the district attorney has

         23  discretion on these issues.  But, not only does the

         24  district attorney have discretion on these issues so

         25  does the police officer in the field.  When I was,
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          2  1998 when I was protesting about an artist hermit at

          3  the Metropolitan Museum, I got arrested for

          4  insighting to riot, because a sergeant at the, from

          5  Central Park Precinct, knew me and knew my political

          6  stance and decided to charge me with that instead of

          7  disorderly conduct which is just a violation.  So

          8  this is the type of thing that with discretion not

          9  only for the district attorney on what they are

         10  going to charge, if they like you, if you're a

         11  certain color, of if you're whatever, there's too

         12  much discretion in this, a misdemeanor could very

         13  easily be sent down to a violation which it very

         14  often is.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  May I ask what

         16  you were convicted of in that matter, if anything?

         17                 MR. BALMUTH:  Nothing, of course

         18  every charge, not only, that wasn't my only

         19  misdemeanor arrest during that time, there were my

         20  others, which I was going to talk about a little

         21  later.  Okay, now the database now might be used

         22  just to solve sex crimes, that's fine and dandy with

         23  me.  You know, but what about if the federal

         24  government all of a sudden would want this database

         25  for homeland security and started to try and round
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          2  up protestors, what would happen then.  Would we

          3  tell the federal government and the homeland

          4  security, no you can't have this database, this is

          5  only for sex offenders.  Come on, let's not kid

          6  ourself.  I just saw the movie, Z, the other night.

          7  And I suggest if you haven't seen it recently, you

          8  should see it.  I mean, a lot of things are

          9  happening.  I didn't want to mention the word police

         10  state, I was so glad when Councilman Davis mentioned

         11  the word police state here. So I didn't have to be

         12  the one to bring it up.  But I'm a little bit afraid

         13  of what's happening and it's mostly with democrats,

         14  I would be afraid of the same thing.  This DNA

         15  database would have been great under some factious

         16  states in the past, I don't want to mention which

         17  ones, but you can just figure it out yourself.

         18  Okay, also, the DA mentioned several cases, cases

         19  indicating that misdemeanors if they had their DNA

         20  taken for misdemeanors we would have had a

         21  conviction earlier, we would have had an arrest

         22  earlier, and maybe we would have saved a rape.  Sure

         23  that's fine and dandy, maybe if we, if the federal

         24  government finds such a significant government

         25  interest in getting this database they should do as
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          2  Councilman Davis said, take it at birth.  Do it when

          3  you apply for your social security number, if there

          4  is such a significant government interest.  I say

          5  there isn't such a significant government interest.

          6  There obviously has been no long term studies on

          7  misdemeanor arrests and convictions on to violent

          8  felonies or they would have been brought up if like

          9  20% of misdemeanors led to a violent felony.  Those

         10  type of data would be brought up, obviously there is

         11  no data on this type of thing.  Okay, let me go back

         12  to my original what I wanted to say and that is when

         13  I read this resolution, I saw some of the names on

         14  this resolution and I'm saying to myself, do city

         15  council people just sign on to things because

         16  somebody tells them to?  Or do they really think

         17  this out? Some of the people on that thing, their

         18  own community, are going to be suffering because of

         19  this.  I mean, my first example of going to court

         20  here for a misdemeanor, it was for an unlicensed

         21  general vendor.  I don't know if you know what

         22  unlicensed general vending is, they used to arrest

         23  artists for selling art work on the streets.  This

         24  wasn't that long ago, this was just back in 1994.

         25  And, you go to a court, they sent me to a community
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          2  court that first time and you get not a DA, but I

          3  don't know who you get there.  But all they do is

          4  try and talk you into pleading guilty to some other

          5  crime, or taking what they call an ACD, in

          6  adjournment and contemplation of dismissal.  You

          7  don't get adequate counseling. Now the second time I

          8  got a misdemeanor summons was for a vending in a

          9  park without a permit, also selling art work.  And

         10  in the court room next to me sitting on the bench

         11  next to me waiting to be heard was Al Sharpton who

         12  was just arrested for selling bibles on 125th

         13  Street.  Which by the way, selling books was not a

         14  misdemeanor but selling books on a restricted street

         15  is a misdemeanor and that's another one that is also

         16  given discretion. Would Al Sharpton, would I who

         17  nobody knew get a criminal court summons for selling

         18  on a restricted street?  No.  They didn't know me,

         19  so they gave him a criminal court summons.  That's

         20  one of the types of things where the police have

         21  discretion whether to write a criminal court summons

         22  or environmental control board summons. Now somebody

         23  mentioned here they don't know anything about

         24  misdemeanors.  Let me explain something, I just know

         25  about parks rules and regulations, I'm not an expert
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          2  on other rules and regulations in the City but I'm

          3  sure that it's pretty much the same.  It says,

          4  Provision 107 on the penalty, it says, any violation

          5  on these rules other than Rule 104B1I shall

          6  constitute a misdemeanor triable by the criminal

          7  court.  And 104BI could be a misdemeanor of a

          8  greater amount, that's section B.  So basically, if

          9  you let your dog off the leash and a Park's

         10  Enforcement Officer or police officer doesn't like

         11  the way you look, for whatever reason, he could

         12  write you a criminal court summons which

         13  automatically makes it a misdemeanor or he could

         14  write an environmental control board summons which

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Two more

         16  minutes sir.

         17                 MR. BALMUTH:  What?  Which

         18  automatically makes it a violation, if they write an

         19  ECB court summons.  So basically, I mean this is if

         20  like, if you're fishing without the right type of

         21  hook or you don't pick up after your dog, if you're

         22  roller blading in the wrong area, all these things

         23  could be misdemeanors by the Parks, Rules and

         24  Regulations.  Do we want to take DNA samples from

         25  this?  I don't think so.  If this law which you are
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          2  saying put all felonies, all convicted felons and

          3  take DNA from them, I wouldn't be here even though I

          4  wouldn't agree with it.  I wouldn't be here. But the

          5  absurdity of including misdemeanors which include

          6  such minor infractions I mean that's why I am here.

          7  Cause I just can't believe, I'm basically against

          8  DNA samples, unless you voluntarily give it up

          9  yourself.  But I wouldn't be here if it were just

         10  for felonies or for certainly violent felonies it's

         11  already there, you've never seen my face before on

         12  this issue and you probably would never see it again

         13  if you take out the misdemeanor section. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

         15  Facing there are no questions this meeting is now

         16  adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 11:50 a.m.)
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